

Advancing Science for Pet Health

UNDERSTANDING PROBIOTICS And Their Impact On Pet Health



EPURINA Institute

Advancing Science for Pet Health

A probiotic supplement for dogs or cats or a probiotic in a pet food can be defined as a viable microorganism (or multiple viable microorganisms) that provides health benefits for the host when fed at a specific amount. Probiotics have the potential to provide many benefits to pets. These benefits include promoting digestive health, supporting immunity, and other benefits outside the gastrointestinal tract in systems affected by the gut microbiome, such as the brain. The specific bacterial strain in the probiotic should have demonstrated efficacy in the target species.



CONTENTS

2

Microbiome and Probiotic Basics

What Is the Gut Microbiome?

Gut Microbiome Composition and Imbalance

What Is a Probiotic?

3

Influencing Health with Probiotics

Gastrointestinal Health and Probiotics

Immunity and Probiotics

The Gut-Brain Axis

6

Research on Probiotics

Enterococcus lactis SF68: Research on GI Signs and Immune System Support

Bifidobacterium longum BL999 NCC 3001 and the Gut-Brain Axis

Bacillus coagulans GBI-30, 6086 "BC30": Research on Gastrointestinal Health and Immune System Support

8 9

17

Practical Aspects of Probiotic Supplementation

Summary

References

Revenue Anstitute

Advancing Science for Pet Health

MICROBIOME AND PROBIOTIC BASICS

What Is the Gut Microbiome?

The gastrointestinal tract contains thousands of species of bacteria, some of which are beneficial and some of which are potentially pathogenic. The gut microbiome contains an entire ecosystem of microorganisms - called microbiota - that includes these bacteria, as well as viruses and fungi. The microbiome is the full collection of genetic material of all the gut microbiota. The majority of microbiota are in the large intestine, with bacteria from genera including Bifidobacterium, Lactobacillus, and Enterococcus, as well as some potentially pathogenic bacteria from genera such as Clostridium and Staphylococcus.14 The predominant phyla present in the gut microbiome of healthy dogs and cats include Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria, and Fusobacteria.⁵⁻⁷ Despite phyla similarities, the microbiome is unique for each dog. In one study analyzing the fecal microbiota in 76 healthy dogs by qPCR and shotgun sequencing, only a small number of bacterial species (17/1190) were consistently present in the microbiomes of these dogs.8

In the human body, the number of bacterial cells present in the gut microbiome is estimated to be in the trillions and is approximately equivalent to the total number of human cells in the body.⁹ Previous resources considered the bacterial count to be about ten times higher than the number of host cells.¹

To understand the gut microbiome, it is important to understand the function of the GI tract. Each section of the GI tract has unique characteristics and different functions:

- The role of the stomach is to begin the digestive process with the mechanical and chemical breakdown of food.
- The small intestine's role is to complete digestion of macronutrients and allow for nutrient absorption.
- The large intestine (colon) primarily is responsible

for handling waste from the digestive process, which involves stool production and further processing of the waste by the microbiome, allowing for fermentation, production of short chain fatty acids, and other processes. The large intestine is also responsible for water absorption and balance.

The stomach contains low levels of bacteria. In the small intestine, there is a small population of bacteria that gradually increases in size closer to the large intestine. The colon is inhabited by many bacterial species, and the bacterial population can vary among individuals as well as species. However, there is a core population of similar bacteria that are present in every animal of a certain species.

There are numerous known functions of the gut microbiome and additional functions that have yet to be discovered. Some of the known functions of the gut microbiome include:^{10,11}

- Providing nutrients for the host via fermentative and metabolic activities
- Breaking down dietary fibers
- Helping develop the immune system and maintaining homeostasis
- Defending against intestinal pathogens
- Aiding nutrient digestion and absorption in the gastrointestinal tract
- Supporting gastrointestinal health

Many of these functions result in improved stool quality, enhanced immune function, decreased stress-related GI signs, and reduced anxious behaviors. In addition to directly impacting GI health, the gut microbiome may affect other organs and systems, such as the brain. Maintaining microbial balance in the gastrointestinal tract can help ensure optimal gastrointestinal and immune function and influence the overall health of the animal. There are connections between the gut microbiome and other systems including the brain and heart.^{12,13} Nutritional modifications, including probiotics, can help maintain microbiome health.

Maintaining microbial balance in the gastrointestinal tract can help ensure optimal gastrointestinal and immune function and influences the overall health of the animal. Nutritional modifications, including probiotics, can help maintain microbiome health.

Gut Microbiome Composition and Imbalance

Individual dogs and cats have a unique gut microbiome, although there is a group of "core" microbial species found in every pet. Bacteroides, Lactobacillus, Bifidobacterium, and Enterococcus are the predominant bacterial genera cultured from canine and feline GI tract.¹ In addition to beneficial bacteria, there are potentially harmful microorganisms in the gut microbiome. The composition of the microbiota can be affected by the pet's environment, genetics, diet, stress, medications, host health, and other factors. Microbiota imbalance, or changes in the composition of the gut microbiome that impact microbiome function, is called dysbiosis and can significantly impact the health of the GI tract and other systems.14,15 For example, dysbiosis can result in decreased production of short-chain fatty acid (SCFA production).¹⁴ With dysbiosis, restoring the gut microbiome is crucial to maintaining health and to helping manage GI disease. Benefits of preserving and restoring microbiome health include:

- Supporting immune function
- Aiding digestion
- Suppressing colonization and growth of potentially pathogenic organisms
- Production of certain vitamins

Animals with GI diseases such as chronic enteropathies may have a greater degree of dysbiosis versus healthy dogs and cats.¹⁴ Nutritional interventions, such as a change in diet to include more prebiotic fibers and/or the addition of probiotics, may be beneficial in cases where intestinal dysbiosis is present.

What Is a Probiotic?

A probiotic is defined by the International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP) as "live microorganisms that, when administered in adequate amounts, confer a health benefit on the host."^{16,17} Probiotics have the potential to provide many benefits to pets. These benefits include promoting digestive health, supporting immunity, and many other benefits outside the gastrointestinal tract in systems affected by the gut microbiome, such as the brain.

Probiotics are referred to by their genus, species, and strain. Probiotics are strain-specific and dose-dependent, meaning different strains have different effects, and a specific amount must be provided to deliver benefits to the pet.

Probiotics can be provided as a supplement or can be found in pet food. Regardless of the delivery method, the probiotic should be viable when consumed. Probiotic supplements are becoming increasingly popular with pet owners and have the potential to support pet health. When recommending probiotic supplements, veterinarians should research the probiotic in the supplement to ensure it has demonstrated efficacy in the target species.

INFLUENCING HEALTH WITH PROBIOTICS

Probiotics are one way to influence gut health and other aspects of pet health. Probiotic supplementation or providing a probiotic in a pet food may aid in maintaining or improving digestive health by:

RIVE Institute

Advancing Science for Pet Health

- Competition with potentially pathogenic bacteria in the GI tract
- Production of antibacterial substances
- Creation of an environment that is unfavorable for pathogens
- Production of metabolites that can be beneficial to the host and other microbiota (such as SCFAs)

Probiotics may be administered for multiple clinical purposes. However, to achieve an effect, the probiotic bacteria must be alive and in sufficient numbers in the supplement or diet. It is important to consider that the desired effects associated with probiotic usage often require continuous administration of the probiotic.

Intestinal dysbiosis can be associated with many health concerns including gastrointestinal conditions, changes in immune function, and anxiety/stress. As a result, probiotics can help veterinarians manage several different health issues in dogs and cats. These include reducing GI signs such as diarrhea associated with stress, dietary change, dietary indiscretion, or antibiotic usage.¹⁸⁻²⁰ Some probiotics are also safe for these uses in puppies and kittens over eight weeks of age. Some probiotics can also reduce anxious behavior and increase social interactions by impacting the gut – brain axis.^{13,21,22} Probiotics can also be immunomodulatory; supplementation or feeding of certain probiotics has been shown to support immune function.²³

To influence health, a probiotic provided as a supplement or in food should meet some or all of the characteristics of an effective probiotic for pets, which include the following:

1. Be resistant to digestion by gastric acid or intestinal enzymes

2. Reduce or prevent the adherence of pathogenic bacteria in the gut

- 3. Produce products unfavorable to pathogen growth (example: short-chain fatty acids that lower intestinal pH)
- 4. Remain viable until consumption by the pet
- 5. Promote a normal and balanced microbiome
- 6. Provide a health benefit to the dog or cat
- 7. Be safe for the pet, noninvasive, and nonpathogenic

There are multiple probiotics that meet these characteristics and requirements, such as *Enterococcus lactis* (formerly *Enterococcus faecium*) SF68 (NCIMB 10415 4b1705), *Bifidobacterium longum* BL999 NCC 3001 (BL999), and *Bacillus coagulans* GBI-30, 6086, commonly called BC30, and others. Results of clinical studies using these probiotics are applicable only to the specific strains in the probiotic supplement or pet food and cannot be assumed to be effective for all strains of the bacterial species. Extensive research has led to the development of probiotics that are both effective and safe for dogs and cats.

Enterococcus lactis SF68, *or E. lactis* SF68, has a long history of safe use in both animals and humans. It is nonpathogenic and nontoxic and does not have abnormal resistance to antibiotics. Importantly, it survives the conditions of the gastrointestinal tract and reaches the intestines but does not colonize the GI tract permanently.²⁴ An extensive number of publications show *E. lactis* SF68 supplementation results in an improvement of diarrhea associated with multiple causes, and that it supports a strong immune system.^{18-21,23,25-29} One example is *E. lactis* SF68 improving diarrhea resulting from stress and antibiotic usage.^{18,20,27} *E. lactis* SF68 can be safely fed to puppies and kittens 8 weeks and older, in addition to adult and senior dogs and cats.

Bifidobacterium is one of the most significant bacterial genera of the large intestine in mammals. *Bifidobacterium longum* BL999, or *B. longum* BL999, lacks pathogenicity in all age groups and in immunocompromised individuals.^{30,31} *Bifidobacterium* species have a wide variety of effects on

host health including inhibition of adhesion of pathogenic bacteria, stimulation of immune function, and reducing anxious behaviors.^{13,22,32}

BC₃₀ is another probiotic used to support pet health. In most situations, probiotics added to pet food are sensitive to the heat necessary for manufacturing. BC₃₀ is more resistant to stresses associated with dry pet food production and can be added to dry pet food as a topical coating.³³ It tends to be more resilient because it is a spore-forming bacteria.³⁴ BC₃₀ is nonpathogenic, and previous studies show it may help enhance the immunologic response,³⁴ and has no known adverse effects on health in dogs or cats.

Gastrointestinal Health and Probiotics

For gastrointestinal disease, effective probiotics may compete with pathogens for adhesion sites on the gut wall. Some researchers suggest that toxin receptors on the intestinal mucosa may be affected by probiotics.³⁵ Probiotics can help inhibit colonization by other strains and encourage growth of other beneficial bacteria.³⁵ Probiotics may also be useful in times when the microbiome is challenged and at risk of developing dysbiosis. Potential challenges to the gut microbiome include environmental changes, dietary modification, antibiotics, stress, or dietary indiscretion.



Immunity and Probiotics

The gastrointestinal tract has an extensive network of immune cells, comprising over 70% of the body's immune system.³⁶ The immune system can be affected by the microbiome at both a systemic and mucosal level. Probiotics have the potential to beneficially influence both the innate and acquired immunity by a variety of proposed mechanisms. Some of the proposed mechanisms include altered cytokine production, natural killer cell activity, and specific and non-specific immunoglobulin production.³⁷ However, the effect will vary depending on the probiotic.

The Gut-Brain Axis

The gut microbiome impacts body systems in addition to the gastrointestinal tract and has a significant effect on health. There is evidence showing that manipulation of the gut microbiome can reduce some anxious behaviors.^{13,22} The bidirectional communication between the microbiome, the gastrointestinal tract, and the brain is called the gut-brain axis. The gut microbiota plays a critical role in the gut-brain axis to influence behavior, brain biochemistry, and neural development, with both the composition and diversity of the microbiota affecting this communication.^{38,39} This communication occurs to some degree through the enteric nervous system, which is a network of neurons along the length of the digestive tract that communicates with the brain via the vagus nerve.⁴⁰ The enteric nervous system is part of the autonomic nervous system. The gastrointestinal immune system and hormonal changes may also impact communication between the gut microbiome and the brain through chemical messengers or metabolites of the gut microbiota.41

The gut-brain communication via the microbiota can be further impacted by stress hormone production, including cortisol and epinephrine, which have an effect on the gut.³⁹ Production of hormones and neurotransmitters can be affected by the microbiome, such as the regulation of tryptophan availability for serotonin production.⁴² For these reasons, intestinal dysbiosis and altering the microbiome

RIVER Institute

Advancing Science for Pet Health

can affect health conditions including cognitive changes and anxiety.^{13,22,43-45} The display of anxious behaviors can be accompanied by increased susceptibility to illness and gastrointestinal signs in addition to behavioral signs^{46,47} Some of the signs of anxiety may be difficult for pet owners to recognize.



Figure:

The gut-brain axis involves bidirectional communication

RESEARCH ON PROBIOTICS

Because effects vary by probiotic strain and by host species, probiotics are currently a vast area of research in veterinary medicine. In addition, there is still much more to be learned about the microbiome, and the interactions between the microbiome, the host, and probiotics. It is known that the benefit of probiotics is not solely gutrelated. Systems or areas that have been shown to benefit most from probiotics to date include the gastrointestinal tract, the immune system, and behavior and stress. There has been research on the effects of and relationships between the gut microbiome and the kidneys,⁴⁸ heart,¹² and other systems. Many of these other areas require ongoing research to determine if these body systems can benefit from probiotic supplements. For parts of the body with their own microbiome—such as the skin and oral cavity —additional research could determine the influence of probiotics on those microbiomes, what those benefits could be, how the probiotics could be given, and what strain or strains of microorganisms would be most beneficial.

It is known that the benefit of probiotics is not solely gut-related. Systems or areas that have been shown to benefit most from probiotics to date include the gastrointestinal tract, the immune system, and behavior and stress.

Enterococcus lactis SF68: Research on GI Signs and Immune System Support

Enterococcus lactis SF68 is a nontoxic, nonpathogenic strain of *E. lactis* that influences gastrointestinal and immune health in pets. It is very unlikely to contribute to the antimicrobial resistance challenges facing public health.²⁴ *E. lactis* SF68 has been shown to be safe and has a long history of safe use in both animals and humans. It can encourage beneficial bacteria such as *Lactobacilli* to thrive and discourages the growth of potentially pathogenic bacteria such as *E. coli* and *Clostridium perfringens*.^{49,50} Many published studies demonstrate *E. lactis* SF68 has potential to promote digestive health and support a strong immune system in dogs and cats and are shown in the table. *E. lactis* SF68 can be microencapsulated to increase stability and viability.

System Studied	Summary	Reference Number
Gastrointestinal	Kittens fed <i>E. lactis</i> SF68 for one year had significantly reduced incidence of diarrhea and a significantly lower number of days with diarrhea during the year versus a placebo.	19
Gastrointestinal	Alaskan sled dogs with acute diarrhea had a significantly fewer number of days with severe watery diarrhea and improved sooner when they received <i>E. lactis</i> SF68, versus dogs that received a placebo.	20
Gastrointestinal	Shelter dogs treated with <i>E. lactis</i> SF68 and metronidazole experienced faster resolution of diarrhea than dogs treated with metronidazole alone.	18
Gastrointestinal	Oral administration of amoxicillin-clavulanate commonly induces diarrhea and alters the gastrointestinal microbiome. Feeding <i>E. lactis</i> SF68 can lessen some of the associated clinical abnormalities.	27
Gastrointestinal	Adult dogs fed a complete and balanced commercial diet and a supplement with <i>E. lactis</i> SF68 for two weeks had reduced flatulence, with a reduction in the number of total flatulence events and a lower amount of hydrogen sulfide released.	29
Gastrointestinal	Cats fed <i>E. lactis</i> SF68 in a shelter environment had fewer episodes of diarrhea lasting more than two days compared to cats receiving a placebo.	25
Immunity	Puppies supplemented with <i>E. lactis</i> SF68 from weaning to one year showed a greater antibody response to the canine distemper virus vaccine versus the control group, demonstrating SF68 promoted a strong immune system.	23
Immunity	Some cats with Feline Herpesvirus-1 fed <i>E. lactis</i> SF68 for 20 weeks had reduced morbidity associated with chronic FHV-1 infection.	21
Immunity	Supplementing adult beagles with <i>E. lactis</i> SF68 can induce immunomodulation as early as 4 weeks.	26
Immunity	Cats supplemented with <i>E. lactis</i> SF68 had a higher percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes versus cats receiving a placebo.	28

PURINA Institute

Advancing Science for Pet Health

Bifidobacterium longum BL999 NCC 3001 and the Gut-Brain Axis

Certain probiotics offer an opportunity to address anxious behaviors in dogs and cats. Studies evaluating the effects of *Bifidobacterium longum* BL999 NCC 3001 have shown benefits on psychological stress in humans.⁵¹ *B. longum* BL999 NCC 3001 has also been shown to reduce the expression of anxious behaviors in dogs and in cats. Dogs fed *B. longum* BL999 for 6 weeks had improved behavioral evaluations versus dogs receiving a placebo. Improvements such as reduced barking, reduced pacing, and increased exploratory behavior were noted.¹³ Dogs supplemented with *B. longum* BL999 had a decreased heart rate and increased heart rate variability, suggesting improved adaptation to stimuli of potential anxious behaviors. The researchers also noted decreased salivary cortisol in response to stimuli.¹³

Anxious behaviors can be reduced in cats supplemented with *B. longum* BL999 as well. Cats given *B. longum* BL999 for 12 weeks showed reduced signs of stress and more social behavior versus cats given a placebo.²² The cats fed *B. longum* BL999 were less likely to have abnormal serum cortisol concentrations.²²

BC30: Research on Gastrointestinal Health and Immune System Support

Although published research is limited in dogs and cats, BC₃₀ is a nonpathogenic spore-forming probiotic that has been shown to be resistant to extreme temperatures and to survive the environment in the upper gastrointestinal tract. Studies in humans have demonstrated digestive health and immunity benefits of BC₃₀, and this probiotic seems to especially support immunity during times of stress.⁵²⁻⁵⁶ The spore-forming nature and heat resistance make BC₃₀ a good candidate for a probiotic that is effective when used within pet foods.

Purina internal studies have provided evidence that BC₃₀ can increase gastrointestinal microbial diversity in dogs, support digestive health in dogs and cats, and help reduce the percentage of days with diarrhea in cats.

PRACTICAL ASPECTS OF PROBIOTIC SUPPLEMENTATION

Probiotics can be provided in pet food or as a dietary supplement. A diet or supplement containing a probiotic may provide one strain or multiple strains of bacteria. The probiotic strain(s) should be chosen based on the desired effect and the evidence of the probiotic's efficacy in the target species.

When selecting a probiotic, quality control and safety should also be considered. Quality and safety considerations for probiotics in pet food and probiotic supplements include:

- The manufacturer of the probiotic should be known and trusted
- A quality probiotic survives typical manufacturing, shipping, and storage conditions
- The safety and efficacy of the probiotic should not be altered during typical storage conditions
- The probiotic should remain alive until at least the expiration date and the number of bacterial cells or colony forming units (CFU) should not decline below the package guarantee before the expiration date
- The specific strain(s) and quantity (CFU) should match what is listed on the label
- The specific strain(s) should be tested and show evidence of efficacy in the species in question, without adverse effects

Because the microbiome differs among species, probiotics recommended to clinical patients should have a demonstrated effect in the species in question. However, there is no evidence that probiotics must originate from the same species as the target species. For example, probiotics given to dogs do not have to be derived from a dog. This includes both single-strain and multi-strain probiotics. Efficacy of a probiotic supplement should be determined regardless of the number of strains present in the supplement. Overall, the most important aspect is high-quality evidence supporting the benefits and safety of the probiotic in the species in question.

To be effective, a probiotic must be stable throughout its shelf life to be present in sufficient numbers or colonyforming units (CFU). This means the probiotic must remain stable during manufacturing, shipping, and typical storage conditions. A study of 25 commercial veterinary probiotic products showed only 2/25 of the products had a label that accurately described the content, including the specific strains and the CFUs.⁵⁷ Therefore, it is important to investigate a probiotic's efficacy in the target species and to use products from trusted manufacturers, so an appropriate, safe, and reliable product can be selected.

To be effective, a probiotic must be stable throughout its shelf life to be present in sufficient numbers or colony-forming units (CFUs). A probiotic must contain at least the CFUs on the label guarantee at the time of expiration. Therefore, it is important to investigate a probiotic's efficacy in the target species and to use products from trusted manufacturers.

SUMMARY

Probiotics are live microorganisms that can benefit health when fed in a specific amount to a certain species. Recommending probiotics for a dog or cat have been shown to help promote microbiome health and balance, which can improve overall pet health. The specific bacterial strain in the probiotic supplement having demonstrated efficacy with high-quality scientific evidence in the target species is an important detail.

As more research emerges with respect to the microbiome and the beneficial effects of probiotics, it is hoped that in the future, positive effects can be demonstrated to support more health conditions.

PURINA Institute

Advancing Science for Pet Health

Probiotics are commonly administered to dogs and cats. Before recommending a specific product, veterinarians should ensure there is evidence from the manufacturer indicating the probiotic has benefit in the target species and that there is evidence the microorganism in the probiotic can survive production and storage.



RIVER Institute

Advancing Science for Pet Health

REFERENCES

1. Suchodolski, J. S. (2011). Intestinal microbiota of dogs and cats: A bigger world than we thought. *Veterinary Clinics of North America Small Animal Practice*, *41*(2), 261–272. doi: 10.1016/j.cvsm.2010.12.006

2. Guard, B. C., Mila, H., Steiner, J. M., Mariani, C., Suchodolski, J. S., & Chastant-Maillard, S. (2017). Characterization of the fecal microbiome during neonatal and early pediatric development in puppies. *PLoS One*, *12*(4), e0175718. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0175718

3. Young, W., Moon, C. D., Thomas, D. G., Cave, N. J., & Bermingham, E. N. (2016). Pre- and post-weaning diet alters the faecal metagenome in the cat with differences in vitamin and carbohydrate metabolism gene abundances. *Scientific Reports*, *6*, 34668. doi: 10.1038/srep34668

4. Suchodolski, J. S. (2012). Microbiota in health and disease. Proceedings, Nestlé Purina Companion Animal Nutrition Summit, Lisbon, Portugal.

5. Honneffer, J. B., Steiner, J. M., Lidbury, J. A., & Suchodolski, J. S. (2017). Variation of the microbiota and metabolome along the canine gastrointestinal tract. *Metabolomics*, *1*3, 26.

6. Marsilio, S., Pilla, R., Sarawichitr, B., Chow, B., Hill, S. L., Ackermann, M. R., Estep, J. S., Lidbury, J. A., Steiner, J. M., & Suchodolski, J. S. (2019). Characterization of the fecal microbiome in cats with inflammatory bowel disease or alimentary small cell lymphoma. *Scientific Reports*, *9*(1), 19208. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-55691-w

7. Ziese, A. L., & Suchodolski, J. S. (2021). Impact of changes in gastrointestinal microbiota in canine and feline digestive diseases. *Veterinary Clinics of North America Small Animal Practice*, *51*(1), 155–169. doi: 10.1016/j.cvsm.2020.09.004

8. Sung, C. H., Pilla, R., Chen, C. C., Ishii, P. E., Toresson, L., Allenspach-Jorn, K., Jergens, A. E., Summers, S., Swanson, K. S., Volk, H. A., Schmidt, T., Stuebing, H., Rieder, J., Busch, K., Werner, M., Lisjak, A., Gaschen, F., Belchik, S. E., Tolbert, M., . . . Suchodolski, J. S. (2023). Correlation between targeted qPCR assays and untargeted DNA shotgun metagenomic sequencing for assessing the fecal microbiota in dogs. *Animals*, *13*(16), 2597. doi: 10.3390/ ani13162597

9. Sender, R., Fuchs, S., & Milo, R. (2016). Revised estimates for the number of human and bacteria cells in the body. *PLoS Biology, 14*(8), e1002533. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1002533

10. Barko, P. C., McMichael, M. A., Swanson, K. S., & Williams, D. A. (2018). The Gastrointestinal Microbiome: A Review. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, *32*(1), 9–25. doi: 10.1111/jvim.14875

11. Shreiner, A. B., Kao, J. Y., & Young, V. B. (2015). The gut microbiome in health and in disease. *Current Opinion in Gastroenterology*, *31*(1), 69–75. doi: 10.1097/MOG.00000000000139

12. Li, Q., Larouche-Lebel, E., Loughran, K. A., Huh, T. P., Suchodolski, J. S., & Oyama, M. A. (2021). Gut dysbiosis and its associations with gut microbiotaderived metabolites in dogs with myxomatous mitral valve disease. *mSystems*, 6(2). doi: 10.1128/mSystems.00111-21

13. McGowan, R. T. S., Barnett, H. R., Czarnecki-Maulden, G., Perez-Camargo, G., & Martin, F. (2018). Tapping into those 'gut feelings': Impact of BL999 (*Bifidobacterium longum*) on anxiety in dogs. Proceedings, American College of Veterinary Behavior Veterinary Behavior Symposium, Denver, Colorado.

14. Pilla, R., & Suchodolski, J. S. (2021). The gut microbiome of dogs and cats, and the influence of diet. *Veterinary Clinics of North America Small Animal Practice*, *51*(3), 605–621. doi: 10.1016/j.cvsm.2021.01.002

15. Zeng, M. Y., Inohara, N., & Nunez, G. (2017). Mechanisms of inflammation-driven bacterial dysbiosis in the gut. *Mucosal Immunology, 10*(1), 18–26. doi: 10.1038/mi.2016.75

16. Hill, C., Guarner, F., Reid, G., Gibson, G. R., Merenstein, D. J., Pot, B., Morelli, L., Canani, R. B., Flint, H. J., Salminen, S., Calder, P. C., & Sanders, M. E. (2014). Expert consensus document. The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics consensus statement on the scope and appropriate use of the term probiotic. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology* & *Hepatology*, *11*(8), 506–514. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2014.66

17. International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics. (2019). *Probiotics*. Retrieved July 31 from https://isappscience.org/wp-content/ uploads/2019/04/Probiotics_0119.pdf

18. Fenimore, A., Martin, L., & Lappin, M. R. (2017). Evaluation of metronidazole with and without *Enterococcus faecium* SF68 in shelter dogs with diarrhea. *Topics in Companion Animal Medicine*, *32*(3), 100–103. doi: 10.1053/j.tcam.2017.11.001

19. Czarnecki-Maulden, G. L., Cavadini, C., Lawler, D. F., & Benyacoub, J. (2007). Incidence of naturally occurring diarrhea in kittens fed *Enterococcus faecium* SF68. *Compendium: Continuing Education for Veterinarians, 29*(2A), 37.

20. Gore, A. M., & Reynolds, A. (2012). Effects of *Enterococcus faecium* SF68 on stress diarrhea. Proceedings, American College of Veterinary Internal Medicine Forum, New Orleans, Louisiana.

21. Lappin, M. R., Veir, J. K., Satyaraj, E., & Czarnecki-Maulden, G. (2009). Pilot study to evaluate the effect of oral supplementation of *Enterococcus faecium* SF68 on cats with latent feline herpesvirus 1. *J Feline Med Surg*, *11*(8), 650–654. doi: 10.1016/j.jfms.2008.12.006

22. Davis, H., & McGowan, R. T. S. (2021). Effect of *Bifidobacterium longum* BL999 supplementation on stress associated findings in cats with FHV-1 infection. Proceedings, American College of Veterinary Internal Medicine Forum, Virtual.

23. Benyacoub, J., Czarnecki-Maulden, G. L., Cavadini, C., Sauthier, T., Anderson, R. E., Schiffrin, E. J., & von der Weid, T. (2003). Supplementation of food with *Enterococcus faecium* (SF68) stimulates immune functions in young dogs. *Journal of Nutrition*, *133*(4), 1158–1162. doi: 10.1093/jn/133.4.1158

24. Holzapfel, W., Arini, A., Aeschbacher, M., Coppolecchia, R., & Pot, B. (2018). *Enterococcus faecium* SF68 as a model for efficacy and safety evaluation of pharmaceutical probiotics. *Beneficial Microbes*, *9*(3), 375–388. doi: 10.3920/BM2017.0148

25. Bybee, S. N., Scorza, A. V., & Lappin, M. R. (2011). Effect of the probiotic *Enterococcus faecium* SF68 on presence of diarrhea in cats and dogs housed in an animal shelter. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, *25*(4), 856–860. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-1676.2011.0738.x

26. Lappin, M. R., Coy, J., Hawley, J., & Dow, S. (2017). Effect of a commercially available probiotic on immune responses in healthy dogs. Proceedings, American College of Veterinary Internal Medicine Forum, Seattle, Washington.

27. Torres-Henderson, C., Summers, S., Suchodolski, J., & Lappin, M. R. (2017). Effect of *Enterococcus faecium* Strain SF68 on gastrointestinal signs and fecal microbiome in cats administered amoxicillin-clavulanate. *Topics in Companion Animal Medicine*, *32*(3), 104–108. doi: 10.1053/j. tcam.2017.11.002 28. Veir, J. K., Knorr, R., Cavadini, C., Sherrill, S. J., Benyacoub, J., Satyaraj, E., & Lappin, M. R. (2007). Effect of supplementation with *Enterococcus faecium* (SF68) on immune functions in cats. *Veterinary Therapeutics: Research in Applied Veterinary Medicine*, 8(4), 229–238.

29. Waldron, M., Kerr, W., Czarnecki-Maulden, G., & Davis, J. (2012). Supplementation with *Enterococcus faecium* SF68 reduces flatulence in dogs. Proceedings, International Scientific Congress of the European Society of Veterinary and Comparative Nutrition, Bydgoszcz, Poland.

30. Borriello, S. P., Hammes, W. P., Holzapfel, W., Marteau, P., Schrezenmeir, J., Vaara, M., & Valtonen, V. (2003). Safety of probiotics that contain lactobacilli or bifidobacteria. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *36*(6), 775–780. doi: 10.1086/368080

31. Senok, A. C., Ismaeel, A. Y., & Botta, G. A. (2005). Probiotics: Facts and myths. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, *11*(12), 958–966. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2005.01228.x

32. Del Re, B., Sgorbati, B., Miglioli, M., & Palenzona, D. (2000). Adhesion, autoaggregation and hydrophobicity of 13 strains of *Bifidobacterium longum. Letters in Applied Microbiology, 31*(6), 438–442. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2000.00845.x

33. Acuff, H. L., & Aldrich, C. G. (2020). Evaluation of graded levels of *Bacillus coagulans* (GBI-30, 6086) on apparent nutrient digestibility, stool quality, and intestinal health indicators in healthy adult dogs. *Journal of Animal Science*, *98*(S4), 314.

34. Kimmel, M., Keller, D., Farmer, S., & Warrino, D. E. (2010). A controlled clinical trial to evaluate the effect of GanedenBC(30) on immunological markers. *Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol*, *32*(2), 129–132. doi: 10.1358/mf.2010.32.2.1423881

35. Rolfe, R. D. (2000). The role of probiotic cultures in the control of gastrointestinal health. *Journal of Nutrition*, *130*(2S Suppl), 396S-402S. doi: 10.1093/jn/130.2.396S

36. Vighi, G., Marcucci, F., Sensi, L., Di Cara, G., & Frati, F. (2008). Allergy and the gastrointestinal system. *Clin Exp Immunol*, *153*(Suppl 1), 3–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008.03713.x

37. Lappin, M. R. (2018). Potential immunological benefits of probiotics. Proceedings, VMX, Orlando, Florida, USA.

38. Shen, H. H. (2015). News Feature: Microbes on the mind. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112(30), 9143–9145. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1509590112

39. Wiley, N. C., Dinan, T. G., Ross, R. P., Stanton, C., Clarke, G., & Cryan, J. F. (2017). The microbiota-gut-brain axis as a key regulator of neural function and the stress response: Implications for human and animal health. *Journal of Animal Science*, *95*(7), 3225–3246. doi: 10.2527/jas.2016.1256

40. Kaelberer, M. M., Buchanan, K. L., Klein, M. E., Barth, B. B., Montoya, M. M., Shen, X., & Bohorquez, D. V. (2018). A gut-brain neural circuit for nutrient sensory transduction. *Science*, *361*(6408). doi: 10.1126/science. aat5236

41. Foster, J. A., & McVey Neufeld, K. A. (2013). Gut-brain axis: How the microbiome influences anxiety and depression. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *36*(5), 305–312. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.01.005

42. Agus, A., Planchais, J., & Sokol, H. (2018). Gut microbiota regulation of tryptophan metabolism in health and disease. *Cell Host & Microbe, 23*(6), 716–724. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2018.05.003

43. Dinan, T. G., & Cryan, J. F. (2017). Gut-brain axis in 2016: Brain-gutmicrobiota axis — mood, metabolism and behaviour. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, *14*(2), 69–70. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2016.200 44. Kohler, C. A., Maes, M., Slyepchenko, A., Berk, M., Solmi, M., Lanctot, K. L., & Carvalho, A. F. (2016). The gut-brain axis, including the microbiome, leaky gut and bacterial translocation: Mechanisms and pathophysiological role in alzheimer's disease. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, *22*(40), 6152–6166. doi: 10.2174/1381612822666160907093807

45. McGowan, R. T. S. (2016). Oiling the brain or cultivating the gut: Impact of diet on anxious behavior in dogs. Proceedings, Nestlé Purina Companion Animal Summit, Fort Lauderdale, Florida, USA.

46. Landsberg, G., Hunthausen, W., & Ackerman, L. (2013). *Behavior problems of the dog & cat.* Saunders Elsevier.

47. Tanaka, A., Wagner, D. C., Kass, P. H., & Hurley, K. F. (2012). Associations among weight loss, stress, and upper respiratory tract infection in shelter cats. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 240(5), 570–576. doi: 10.2460/javma.240.5.570

48. Summers, S. C., Quimby, J. M., Isaiah, A., Suchodolski, J. S., Lunghofer, P. J., & Gustafson, D. L. (2019). The fecal microbiome and serum concentrations of indoxyl sulfate and p-cresol sulfate in cats with chronic kidney disease. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 33(2), 662–669. doi: 10.1111/jvim.15389

49. Vahjen, W., & Manner, K. (2003). The effect of a probiotic *Enterococcus faecium* product in diets of healthy dogs on bacteriological counts of *Salmonella* spp., *Campylobacter* spp. and *Clostridium* spp. in faeces. *Archiv fur Tierernahrung*, *57*(3), 229–233. doi: 10.1080/0003942031000136657

50. Weiss, M. (2003). Effect of *Enterococcus faecium* on the organism of newborn puppies. PhD Dissertation. Ludwig-Maxilians-Universitat Munchen. Munich, Germany.

51. Boehme, M., Remond-Derbez, N., Lerond, C., Lavalle, L., Keddani, S., Steinmann, M., Rytz, A., Dalile, B., Verbeke, K., Van Oudenhove, L., Steiner, P., Berger, B., Vicario, M., Bergonzelli, G., Colombo Mottaz, S., & Hudry, J. (2023). *Bifidobacterium longum* subsp. *longum* Reduces Perceived Psychological Stress in Healthy Adults: An Exploratory Clinical Trial. *Nutrients*, *15*(14). doi: 10.3390/nu15143122

52. Benson, K. F., Redman, K. A., Carter, S. G., Keller, D., Farmer, S., Endres, J. R., & Jensen, G. S. (2012). Probiotic metabolites from *Bacillus coagulans* GanedenBC30 support maturation of antigen-presenting cells in vitro. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, *18*(16), 1875–1883. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i16.1875

53. Gepner, Y., Hoffman, J. R., Shemesh, E., Stout, J. R., Church, D. D., Varanoske, A. N., Zelicha, H., Shelef, I., Chen, Y., Frankel, H., & Ostfeld, I. (2017). Combined effect of *Bacillus coagulans* GBI-30, 6086 and HMB supplementation on muscle integrity and cytokine response during intense military training. *Journal of Applied Physiology (1985), 123*(1), 11–18. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01116.2016

54. Hun, L. (2009). *Bacillus coagulans* significantly improved abdominal pain and bloating in patients with IBS. *Postgraduate Medicine*, *121*(2), 119–124. doi: 10.3810/pgm.2009.03.1984

55. Jensen, G. S., Benson, K. F., Carter, S. G., & Endres, J. R. (2010). GanedenBC30 cell wall and metabolites: Anti-inflammatory and immune modulating effects in vitro. *BMC Immunology*, *11*, 15. doi: 10.1186/1471-2172-11-15

56. Nyangale, E. P., Farmer, S., Cash, H. A., Keller, D., Chernoff, D., & Gibson, G. R. (2015). *Bacillus coagulans* GBI-30, 6086 Modulates *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* in Older Men and Women. *Journal of Nutrition*, *145*(7), 1446–1452. doi: 10.3945/jn.114.199802

57. Weese, J. S., & Martin, H. (2011). Assessment of commercial probiotic bacterial contents and label accuracy. *Canadian Veterinary Journal*, *52*(1), 43–46.

PURINA Institute

Advancing Science for Pet Health

GET TO KNOW THE PURINA INSTITUTE

Advancing Science for Pet Health

At the Purina Institute, we believe science is more powerful when it's shared. That's why we're on a mission to unlock the power of nutrition to help pets live better, longer lives. A global professional organization, the Purina Institute shares Purina's leading-edge research, as well as evidence-based information from the wider scientific community, in an accessible, actionable way so veterinary professionals are empowered to put nutrition at the forefront of pet health discussions to further improve and extend the healthy lives of pets through nutrition.

> For more information and a wealth of pet nutrition resources, visit <u>Purinalnstitute.com</u> and sign up for scientific communications. By signing up, you'll receive updates on discoveries in nutritional science, free resources to support you in your nutrition conversations with clients, invitations to events, newsletters and much more from the Purina Institute.



Purinalnstitute.com/Sign-Up

Learn more at **Purinalnstitute.com**

PURINA TRADEMARKS ARE OWNED BY SOCIÉTÉ DES PRODUITS NESTLÉ S.A. ER/CRCA